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‘AN AWFUL PLACE FOR CHILDREN’?: CHILD LABOUR
IN MID-NINETEENTH CENTURY DEVON, CORNWALL,
SOMERSET AND DORSET!

W.B. Stephens

Giving evidenee ta Lthe Children's Employment Commission of the 1880s, David
Hounsell, a toreman rope-maker, admitted that the lol of children in his trade made
Bridport ‘an awful place for children’.” How extensive was child labour in the
Westcountry and to what extent might it be considered awful?

The compilers of the 1851 Census of Educalion estimated that of children aged 3-14
in England and Wales only 16 per cont of boys and 9 of girls were in employment, and
that the vast majority of these were over 11 or 12; even hy 13 over halt the boys and
nearly three-guarters of the gicly in the country were not employed.® These figures
should nol, however, be allowed to give the impression that child labour was by then
hardly a problem. fivst, since better-off parents were universally schooling their chil-
dren the 'smplayed’ census category must embrace higher propoctions of working-class
children than of all children. Secondly, national figures disguise loeal variations: Table
1, showiayg figures for older child workers in four Westcountry counties, together with
those for Bedfordshire (the county with the highest proportion), Middlesex (that with
the lowesl} aud the factory counties of Lancashire and the West Riding, illustrates this
at county level. Cornwall had nearly a4 high a proportion of boy workers wged 10-14 as
the West Riding nud a higher proportion than Lancashire, and the proportion of such
boys in Dorset was not mush lower.

Table 1: PERCENTAGES OF CHILDREN EMPLOYED, 1851

AGES 5{09 AGES 10 to 14

Boys Girls All Boys Girls All
Devon 0.9 1.1 1.0 36.0 19.5 27.9
Cornwall 2.6 R 1.6 46.7 16.3 317
Dorset 3.3 L4 2.3 42.5 18.0 205
Somersel 2.2 1.4 1.8 36.4 20056 28.5
England & Wales 2.0 1.4 I 36.6 19.9 283
Bedfortdshire 119 21.4 16.6 Ja.6 50 6 501
Lancashirve 2.8 1.6 2.2 43.7 337 ART
Middlesex® .3 .1 2 18.0 7.6 13.0
Yorkshire WR 5.1 3.7 4.4 516 3509 43.8

Source: Population censns, 1551, # extra metropolilan

Westcountry children were found in many jobs. But the occupations claiming
the Iargest proportions were, for boys, farm work and (in Cornwall} mining, and for
girls indour farm work and domestic service together with (in Cornwall) mine work and
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{in Devon, Dorset and Somerset) cottage and factory industey.! Again, however, county
totals conflate internal vuriations and in districts where mining and factory, cottage
and workshop industry and small family farms were concentrated, proportions of child
workers were considerably higher than county percentages,

Thirdly, children returned as ‘employed’ in the census did net include all children
wha worked.” Comparisons of tolals of school attenders (aged 5-14) in the 1851 popula-
tion census (that is accovding to parents) with numbers (below and above 14) returned
by schaols in the education census of that year (Table 2) suggest thal some parsnts
wrongly reported as 'scholars’ children who did not meet the census criteria (aged 5-14;
‘daily attending schaol'). Even assuming that the actual number of vegular school
pupils was half way between those on school rolls and those present on census day, par-
ants in the four western counties probably exaggerated the nurnbers of regular school
pupils by over 40,000 (in Devon by at least 17,000). Such children probably included
some who attended only Sunday school and worked the rest of the week, and some who
went to d0-called glove and lace schools (commoen in east and north Devon, parts of
Somerset and around Yeovil and devoted to craft training) who were in fact child work-
ers.® School pupil figures were probably also inflated by the inclusion of many whe
attended very irregularly over the year or for very short periods in a week - some of
whom worked for their parents or others for days, weeks or months at a time. Then
there were children who did attend school daily but might work outside school hours:
gome Somerset schoolgirls in the 1880s, for instance, made gloves at home for four
hours each evening.

Table 2: PERCENTAGES OF CHILDREN AT SCHOOL, 1851

Population census Education census
Children up to 14 Children up to and above 14
On the books On census day
Boys (iirls Boys Girlg Boys Girls
Devon 39 38 35 30 30 25
Cornwall 34 35 30 27 a5 23
Dorset 37 39 39 37 33 a3t
Somerset 36 36 35 32 29 26

Source: Population cenzus, 1851, Education census, 1851

As well as recording numbers of children at wark and at school the 1851 Consus
totals those ‘at home'. Even for the alder Westeountry children (10-14}, propartions of
these were substantial (Table 3) - roughly one-quarter of boys wore ‘at home” and for
girls, arcund double those returned as employed, while in Corawall and Doerset more
girls were ‘at home' than at schoal. [t is likely that these included some who worked
full-time at home in cottage industries and an famity farms. But some contemporaries
{including the Dean and the Mayar of Exeter in 1869} complained of hovdes of sehool-
age idlers roaming the streets” Most, i not all, such children were certainly not in reg-
ular employment - but whether all of them were perpetually idle ar appeared in the
census as ‘at home’ is difficult to say. It is probable, hewever, that some, perhaps many,
of the ‘at home’ children did not spend all day idling, Historians using divecse evidence

aver the country have revealed that many children commonly experienced a period of
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sactalization between school and full-time paid work. At some age between 8 and 11
thers: was a shilt from regular or ivregular school attendance into a half-way house in
which they progressed graddually from unpaid easual work based on the home to petd
worl sutside it - or [or many givls into full-time housework until marriage. Girls migtht
care for younger siblings, releasing mothers for work; hoys might help craltsmuen or
farmers at busy times or aceompany lathers to work, Jearning job skills and sarning s
few coppers as they moved gradually into full emplovment. By 13 or L4 probably few
‘at home’ children - especially bovs - had never undertaken iy paid worl.?

Table 3: PERCENTAGES OF CHILDREN AGED 10-14 AT SCHOOL,
EMPLOYED ANI) AT HOME, 1851

BOYS GIRLS
Scholars Wimployed At home Scholars  Employed At home
Pevon 1 6 21 406 19 35
Cornwall 40 A7 23 41 16 43
[Drset a4 4 22 16 16 48
Somerset Rig 36 a7 43 20 7

Adlin alb it seems ceriain that the census underestimated the number of children
who worked and overestimated the numbers atl schaot and idle at home. And, though
for many of the chitdren nated in the last paragesph ay undertaking intermittent and
easual work life cannat have been awful, far some others conditions weve less enviahle,
Jovernment investigations from the (8305 through the 1860s, pinpoint the districts
and trades in which child fabour was concentrated und provide data on its nature and
on working conditions, treatment and health.” Nat all child cccupations can be covered
here, but some of Lhe more important ones are cousidered,

Before an Act of 1842 prohibited underground work for females and boys under 10,
some very young boys (though o givls) worked underground in the Devon and Cornish
copper and tin mines and in Somersel coals mines, usually for the same hours as men,
al tasks some of which were very arduous. Before and after the Act many boy and girl
surtace workers from 7 upwards toiled for 8 to 10 hours daily often in the open at wet
and dirty jobs some of which were very fatiguing, However, though conditions were
bad, especially in Somerset, und mine children weve said 1o losc their [ull vigour quick-
ly, wages were considerably higher than in other jobs so Uit child workers tended o
be well fed and clothed and generally satisfied with their loL*?

Wesleountry woollen, silk, glove and lace [actories all employed ehitdren and theugh
the youngest were hanned from woollen faclories from 1833 the others remained
unregutated for decades alter that, Children aecountued for a high proportion of
Semerset silk mill workers and the Devon and Somerset lace lactories emploved many
children from an early age. The Children's Employment Commissionors considered
Wosteounlry factory children's hours of work excessive and pay oflen paltey with lasks
not heavy but tedious and with some pavenls (though not most) complaining of
exhausted offspring. Many mills (especiatly the smaller lace Taetories in Chard and
Barnstaple) had frequent accidents and were dirty and unwholesome with ragged,
unhealthy children, brutally treated. The glove Facloriex around Yeovil continued to
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engage young children into the 1860s in heavy unwhelesame work for long hours,
allegedly to the detriment of health. !

The pictre 1 not, however, oue of total misery. Some factories (including Heatheont’s
in Tiverton and silk milts in Taunton and Wellington) were clean und airy with child
warkers kindly treated. well fed and healthy, generally satisfied with their lot and
repartedly able Lo eajoy themselves on Sunduys and after work. Young Yeovil glove fac-
tory workers were said to spend frecly on dress and amusements. And while physical
punishment was widespread in Factovies and mines {though not in the Cornish mines),
employers and parents viewed chastisement with canes and leather straps for laziness,
inattention and mishehaviour as normal Cas indeed it was in contemporary schools and
hornes). Most boy and girl workers made light of such punishment, agreeing that it was
usually deserved and preferable Lo foss of wages. The Commissioners, too, did not find
this kind of correction ovverly harsh. On the other hand they condemned as ‘unwar-
rantable ill treatment’ Lthe clouts on Lhe head, kicking, punching and bealing with
pieces of wood and iron rods which they discovered were common in some mills in
Devon, Dorset and Somerset and they remarked especially on Lhe brutality found in
lace mills in Chard and Barnstaple.'

The lot of child workers in Westcountry cottage and workshop industries varied but
was probably by modern standards effen worse than that of those in the best run fac-
tories. David Hounsell's evidence (cited aboves regarding child labour in the rupe, twine
and sail industry centred on Bridport fod Yeovil was confirmed by a local poor-law offi-
cer who deseribed it as ‘a kind of modern slavery’.' Children from 7 upwards worked
for some 12 hours a day oflen in the open for little pay or just for their keep. They were
stunted in growth, unhealthy and suftered badly frim the cold.

Children (mainly girls) who worked as ontworkers for the mills and in the unregu-
lated cottage industries making piHew lace troncentrated in east Devon, wesl Dorsel
and parts of Somerset), gloves {'Torvington, Bude, Yeovil, Chard, Langport, Wincanton)
and huttons (Blandford, Shaftesbury, Sherborne, Bere Regis) did so from age b ar
younger often for exeeptionally long hours for paltry financial reward. Sedentary wark
in unnatural pesitions and unwholesome stufly rooms reportedly caused tuberculosis,
twisted spines and general debility. ' The youngest oflen atlended so-called face and
button schools, where they were kept hard at work leswning their craft, encouraged by
what the Employment Commissioners eupheniistically called "gentle inflictions’ of the
cane and strap.!® Nevertheless, there was no evidence of the brutatity of the lace facto-
ries and children regarded Lhe corparal punishment they received as light and
deserved and seemed proud of their skills and contented with their work, preferring it
te oirm work or domestic service.

The work was, anyway, accepted as a necessity by wives and daughters in districts of
poorly paid and insecure agricuttural labour. The state of Westcountry farm labourers
penerally was exceedingly miserable with agricultural wages in Devon, Dursel and
Sumersel in the 1860s only three-quarters of the national average. In addition large
parts af the tural Westeountry were dominated by small farms and amallhaldings
whose oceupants Hved hand-to-mouth existences.'® Consequently farm work was the
commonest single oecupation for children aged 10-14 in the Westeountry - and one in
which in some places younger children were also employed. Proportions of farm chil-
dren and the ages at which they began work, however, varted geographically. There wag
greater demand for child lahour in arable areas and arcas of small farms and a greater
supply where adult labourers were mosi poorly paid and full-time work seasonal,

Ciirls from 10 upwards were employed full-time in indoor farmwork and in the fields
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at times of harvest but few worked regularly vut of doors. As to boys, farmers at meot-
ings of Chambers of Agriculturs held in the late 1860s in Exeter, Kingsbridge, Newton
Abbot and Plymoeuth said they did not need the labour of boys under 10 - and indeed it
seems that by the 1840s comparatively few boys below 9 or 10 worked regularly on the
tand in most parts of Corpwall and Devon.'? But in Dorsel a high proportion of cheap
hoy tabour was ernployed: ‘boy labour has partly displaced that of men’ it was reported
in the 1860s. Boys worked full-time ax young as 6 often with horses and at 7 or 8 were
put to ploughing - sometimes (or 14 hours a day for a fraction of men’s wages. Aud the
custom of hiring whole Families - sUll practiscd in parts of Dorset in the 1860s - meant
that wives and children of all ages were at the beek and eall of the farmer'® Again in
areas of thir smallest farms - particularly Family farms in aorth Devon, Cornwall, west
Somerset and parts of Dorset wiich could not afford (o hire labour - farmers’ own chil-
dren were Mrejquently used from an early age. fn market gardens in Cornwall and
around Axminster and Yeovil childron were extensively employed, At gardens at Gulval
(near Penzancel children as young as 7 worked 12-hour days alongside adults in gangs,
But though there was also some evidence of gangs in Somerset, the pernicious agrical-
tural gang system found in East Anglia, so viclous in its use of childven,' seems to
have been generally absent from the Wesleountry.

Then, in all rural distreicts, parents of large Familios were often forced by poverly to
send thetr young children to work. Somie in Devon, Dorset and Somerset {especially
thase whase familics were on poar reliet) were apprenticed to [armers at 9 or younger. ™
Their treatment varied geeally. Some were well fnoked after as members of the family,
but some were certainty nat. In the 1§40s Bridport-born Charles Medway of
Doddiscombsleigh, apprenticed at 7 or §, repurted that he was well clothed and fid,
shared a bedroom with the farmer's song, was taught his catechism and to read, taken
to church and confirmed, was only chastised when he deserved it and lived ‘much bet-
ter than I might be at home'. Al the other extreme farmer Edwin Troode of Exminster
regularly horsewhipped his apprentices, had one boy put on a treadmill for a week and
was fined by the magistrates for excessively whipping a girl appreutice.?!

Much farm work was arduous. For young children il must have been exhausting, The
Commisgioners noted that boys were put on as hard work as possible to aveid employ-
ing men, Many were healthy but heavy farm work could cause stunted growth and
exposure to the elements led to consumption, glandular trouble and other diseases,
while being too long on LHe fect caused inflammation of larm buys’ legs. The effects a
Blandford surgeon reported were ‘the same as overworking o young horse’ %

In sum, for those children who went full-time to sehool and for many who did casual
wark at home, life cannol have been ‘awful’ by the standards of the day. Nor was that
probably so for many children aged 10-14 who worked in a variety of trades. But for
raany, though not all, who worked in mining, agriculture, factories and cottage indus-
tries - especially those under the age of 10 or so, 1L is probably nol un exaggeration to
say their lot was unenviable even by contemporary standards - and 1n many cases the
Victorians eame to that conclusion too, gradually extending rostrictivns vn child labour
and, when Lhat did not have as great an effect as expected, introducing compulsory
schooling.



REFERENCES

G.

=

IUR
Il
12

L3
14,

15.

This is a shortened version of a talk given to the Pevon Histovy Society at its meet-
ing in Exeter, Qetober 1999,

PP 1866 XXIV (sce note 9 below), pp, 106-7.

Deduced from graph in Census of Great Britain, 1851 Education (Englund amd
Wedes), PP 1852-3 XC, between pp.exx and exxi.

See Stephens, WB., Education, Literacy and Seciely, 1830-70 iManchoester, 1987,
pp.21h-19.

CF Higgs, B., A Clear Sense of the Census: The Vietorion census and hsioricval
rescarch, (Public Record Office, Handbook 28, London, 18986}, pp. 89-103 (v, alsoe
for some Devon parishes in 1871}

CF Bythell, D., The Sweated Trades (London, 1978), p.263 n. 152, Some clainmed to
teach o little reading.

Newton, R., Vietorien xeler (Leicester, 1968), p.183. CF

Stephens, W.B., Edueation in Britain, 1750-1914 (London, 1598), p.iy; 0P L868-9
XIIL (b} (see note 9 below), poA9T.

See, e.g. Hair, PILH., ‘Children in socicty, 1850-1980", in Barker, I and Drake, M.,
(eds), Poputation and Society in Britain, 1850-1980 {London, 1982), Davin, A,
‘Worling or helping?. in Smith, J., Wallerstein, 1. And Gvers, H., {eds), Houseltolds
cordd the World Econonry (London 198D,

Exeept where otherwise stated the feliowing is based on relevant seclions of the
tollowing Parliamentary Papers (PP

Ist Rep. B, Conm. Gmplovment of Childeen in Fectories, PP 1833 XX and
Supplementiry ftep. PP 1IR3 XX

15t Rep. B Comme oot Emplovment of Childdren in Mines and Manufactorics PP
1842 XV, and Appendices, Pt 1 P 1842 XV [t [DPT 1842 XVII;

2nd Rep. B Comm. on Employment of Cluldren tn Trades and Manufactures PP
1843 XIIL, and Appendices, Pt [ PP 1840 XIV, Pt L PP 1843 XV,

fep. Spectal Assistant oor Law Corgurs, on Emgplovment of Women and Children
in Agricufinre, PP 1643 X1

ist Bep, K. Clomne on Emplovement of Children i Trades and Manufoactures PP
1863 XVIIL,

2ndd, 4th and 5th Beps. Ditly, PP 364 XXIIL PP 18685 XX, PP 1866 XXIV;

2nd Rep. R Camm. on Emplavment of Children, Young Persons and Women in
Agricudtere, Pt I PP 1868-9 X111 (a0, Pt [I PP 1868-9 XTI (b);

Fep. B Comm. on Factory and Workshops Acts, vold, PP 1876 XXIX (pp.172-5);
Rep. on Honiton Lace fndustry PP 1888 LXXX.

CF Jenkin, A H., The Cornish Miner {London, 1927), p.241.

Rep. R. Comm. on Popular Education PP, 1861 XX ipt. [1), p.2G.

For harsher treatment of children, however, see Nardinelli, C., *Corpural punish-
ment and children's wages in 19th century Britain’, Explorations in Eeonomic
History 19{3){1982).

PP 1866 XXIV isee nate 9 abovel, pp. 106-7.

Yallop, FLJ., "The lacemaleer’s globe’, Trans. Devonshire Assoc, 123 119911, p. 189,
For craft schools, see Bythell, op.cit., pp. 102-5; Victoria History of Somerset, vol, i,
pp. 426-7. Severat of the Reports ciled in note 9 above and some: of the many mono-
graphs on cottage industries provide data on the schools.

. Finch, &., ‘Devor’s farm lahourers in the Victorian pevied', Transactions

8

17.

8.
14,
20,
21,

23,

Bevonstire Assoc. 1 OO87), p 85 Snell, KDM., Anneals of the Labouring Foor:
Social change and agrarien England. 16601900 (Cambridge, 1985) pp. 130, 394:
Bowley, A.L., "Rural population in England and Wales', Jnl. Rove! Agricultural
Seciety lxxvii (1914), p.605; Hunt, B.HL, Regiona! Wage Variations in Britain, 1850-
1914 (Oxford, 1460, pp. 14-15, 62-3,

PP 1868-9 XIII (z} (see note 9 above), p.36. CF Rowe. J.. "The high farming era in
Cornish agricultwre’, in Minchinton, WE., (ed.), Forming and Transport in the
South West (Tixeter, 1972), p. 28.

Slephens, Education, Literacy.... op.ett., pp. 222-3; Snell, pp.oir. . p.d06,

Stephens, Bdncation, Literacy..., op.cit., p.74,

Snell, op.eit., p.283.

PP 1843 XIT {sec note 9 above), quoted in Hoskins, WG, Ofd Deeon (Nvwton
Abbot, 1966}, 194-202.

PP 1843 XIT (see note 9 above), p.82.



SAINT PETROC IN DEVON

Nicholas Grant

The Celtic saint Petroc was ealled the ‘Apostle of Devonshire’ by the Rev ). F. Chanter,!
who imagined Petroe as vesponsible for the sixth eentury evangelisation of Deven. He
believed that Pelroc had moved from Cornwall through Devon, founding a string of
churches en-roufe. In this, he was developing the ideas of the Rev Sabine Baring-Gould,
who suggested that Petroe had been the original founder of BuckEast Abbey and other
churches i south Devon ® Why did they think this? The chief evidence is that of
Petroe’s spivituzal dedications, [n addition to dedications in Cornwall, Wales and
Hrittany. Petroe has a remarkable fourteen parish church dedications of at least
medieval date in Deven, The next most popular local Cellic or even Brilish saint is
Nectan, with three dedications; Petroe’s total is surpassed only by biblical or evangeli-
cal saints such as Mary, Peter, Paul, Michael and Andrew.” In short, Baring-Gould and
Chanter beleved that these dedications originated in the missionary work of Petroc
and his followers during the Early Christinn period. The idea that a Celtic dedication
may indicate a Celtie foundation date for a church can also be found, in the context of
Devon, in works by W.G. Hoskins? L.V, Grinsell,” and H.M. Porter? and has also been
developed in a much wider context in the works of Prof E.G. Bowen.” More recently,
Susan Pearee® and Nicholas Orme? have argued thal Celtic chureh dedications need to
be studied closely on an individunl basis, since many may well oviginate at a much
later period than the fifth Lo seventh centuries. After Britain ceased to be a Roman
province Devon was ruled by nalive Celtic kings and chiefs, before the Anglo-Saxen
conguest of Devon in the seventh and eighth centuries. The whale period is very poerly
documented, thus the evidence of later dedications might offer o precious insight to the
ecclesiastical history of the post-Roman centuries. Whe then was St. Petroc, and what
are his connections with Devon?

Firstly, we must consider the biographica) information for Petrue. As is the case with
nearly all of the Celtic saints, the sources for Petroc’s life are late and unhistovical. The
earliest mention of Petroe is in the late eleventh century Vita of 8L Cudoe by Liftis of
Llancarfan. In this, Petroe was the uncle of Cadoce, was origiaally from souwth-east
Wales, and subsequently founded a monastery at Bodmin in Cornwall,™ Two earty
medieval Vitae exdst for St. Petroe himselll The Rrest is [rum the Breton abbey of Saint-
Meen; its original provenanee is unclear, but the lile is probably of Cornish origin and
of eleventh or twellth century date. The second life dates trom the later fwelfth contury
and is apparently from Bodmin, This expands the Satnt-Meen life 't According to these
lives Petroc was originally a Welshman, son of Glywys, king of Glywysing in south-eust
Wales. After studying in Ireland, Pelroc comes to Cornwall, taking over a monastic
establishment at Padstow, originally founded by a hishop Wethinae. From bere Petroc
journeys to Rome (twices and Jerusatem. On his return from the tirst visit to Rome he
visits New Town ‘Newton St. Potrock, Devoni. Petrae also [ounds monasteries at Little
Petherick and Bodmin, feads a manster from a luke inlo the sea, converts a vich man
named Constantine to Christianity, perfarms a4 number of ather miracles, and has deal-
ings with a hermit Samson, who may be St. Samson of Dal. Eventually Petroc retires Lo
live as a hermit hefore his death and burial at his oviginal foundation at Padstow.™

Regrettably mast of the material in these lives is probably tiction. Petroe may well
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originally have been from Wales, and f the associations with Cadoee and Samson could
be trusted, he would have flourished around the middle pavt of the sixth century.
However, what cannot be doubted is that Petroc founded and was buried at a Cellic
establishment at Padstow. A document known as ‘The Resting Places of the Saings’ is
an Anglo-Saxon list of the locations in England of the relics of various notable saints,
and this refers to Petroc’s body as lying at Padstow. The list was compiled between 1013
and 1021, It was designed to emphasise the saintly wealth of the Anglo-Saxon king-
dor, but could also form a practical guide to sites worthy of pilgrimage. The hst shows
that Petroc was considered a significant saint in the Anglo-Saxon canon by the begin-
ning of the cleventh century.!® By the laler part of the eleventh century, huwever,
Petroc’s body had been transferred to Bodmin, possibly as & result of Viking raids in
the area. The exact date of this transfer, and the guestion of whether Petroc had any
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conneclion with Bodmin, as the lives state, prior to the translation, are diffieutt
issues.  Fortunately they need not affect the diseussion of Petrocs links with Devon,

By the tenth century the Celtic kingdom of Cornwall had been fully annexed to the
English kingdom, and an Anglo-Saxon bishopric was established at 8t. Germans in
Cornwall by King Athelstan ¢.930. In 994 the ‘place and governance’ of St. Pelroc
{Padstow or Bodmin) was annexed to the bishopric ol 5t Germans. Al Lhis Lime Devon
was subject to a separale bishopric al Crediton, but in 1050 Crediton and 5t Germans
were merged by Bishop Leofrie to creale a new bishopric al Exeter. The two hishoprics
had already been held in plurality by Bishop Lyfing and his suceessor Leofric since
¢ 1027. The tenth century minsler building of St. Mary and $t. Peter at Exetor became
the vathedval church. As well as acquiring the diocesan rights over Cornwall, Exeter
alzo took over what had onee hean some of the bishoprie’s land.1?

Already, howeover, a strong cult of Petroe had developed at Bxeter. Relics from ‘hones
of St. Petroe, and from his hair and from his clothes’ are amongst those listed in the
eleventh century Exeter relic list known as the Athelstan Donation. This list purports
to be a list of relics donated by King Athelstan (924-939) to the monastery of St.Mary
and St, Peter at Exeter,'® This cannet be entirely the ease, since the list includes reties
of saints who did not die until iater in the tenth century, But there is no reason to
doubt that the list aceurately represents the relies held by the monastery in the
eleventh century, and that some, perhaps most, of these were the result of a donation
by Athelstan, who was a noted colleefor of relies. IF so, and if the relies of Petroe were
part of the original donation, they must have been aequired by Athelstan from Padstow
{or Bodmin}. This is made virtually esriain by the presence in the list of relies of St.
Wealhinor, an obscure saint associated with Petroe at Padstow, as we have seen from the
Vitae referred to above, Athelstan is most Hkely Lo have acquired these relies at the
time he crealed an Anglo-Saxon bishopric in Cornwall, after a visit to that region,
¢.930. Pelroc remained popular at Exeter; his name is also found in two eleventh cen-
bury litanies from Exeter!™ and in an Exeter martyrology of the twellth century. ¥

We can now vonsider the potential origing of the dedications Lo Petroe, beginning
with Lhe one place in Devon specifically associated with Petroe in his fivst Vite: Newlon
8t. Petrock. The dedication is lirsl recorded in 1317,"% but the fact that the lile regards
Newton as a Petroc foundation suggests thal the church was dedicated to Petroc by al
least the twelfth century, the date of the life’s composition. Newton was held by the
priests of Bodmin at the time of Domesday, and a reference in the contemporacy Geld
[nguest to the ‘priests of Newton' suggests that Newton was already a minster church
by 1066, When did Bodmin acquire the manor? There exists a charter ascribed to
Athelstan (924-39} giving one cassatun at Nymantuyane to St Petroc’s, but this is an
eleventh century forgery. A record also exists of a lost charter of Eadred (946-55) giv-
ing the manor of Niweton to 8t, Petroc’s. Bodmin (which may be an ervor for
Padstow.?! Finbery sugpested that this was an avthentic gront, and that the Athelstan
charter was a blundered attempt to reconstruct the lost charter of Eadred. The refer-
ence to Newton in the life is probably a further attempl to underline Bodmin's right to
hold the manor, rather than a reflection of any personal connection of Petroe wilh
Newton. It is likely therelove that the dedication post-dates Bodmin’s scquisition of
Newton, making it of late lenth to eleventh century date.

The priests of Bodmin held a second chuvch at Domesday which is later recorded as a
Petroc dedication; Hollacombe. As at Newton, the Geld Inquest vefers to the ‘priests of
Hollacombe’ suggesting a pre-Conguest minster church existed at Holincombe, near
Holsworthy.® Twe farms in Hollacombe contain the place-name clement higne (com-
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munity) which supports this.?! The dedication presumably vesults from Bodmin's awn-
eeship of the manor, although it is nol known when the manor was acquired. Aceording
to the Lax list Teste de Neoifl (1234-1242), the Prior of Bodmn held the manor by g':['i,
of some ancient King'® IL is Lempting to suggest thal Bodmin may have ucqilired
Hollacombe al about the same time as it did the nearby manor of Newtoo, I so, the
dedication may also be of late Anglo-Saxon date, although it is only first recorded in
145626

With Exeter the cenlre of the bishoprie for Devon and Corawall, we should not he
surprised to find there a parish chureh dedication to Petroe. The chureh and its dedica-
tion 1 vecorded in 1194 and 1204.27 However, a thirteenth century source records that
Exeter had twenty-nine chapels by the veign of Wiltiam I (1066-87), Although not
speeifically named, St. Petroc’s, as one of the later medioval parishes, is almeost certain
to have heen one of these churches®  xeter had been refounded as part. ol the burh
system of fortified towns in Wessex by Alfred in the late nioth century, 8t. Petroes
chureh oceupies a plot on the late Saxon street grid laid out over the Roman grid. The
chureh is likely therefore 1o have been founded in the tenth or eleventh century.® By
this time, as we have scon above, relies of Petroe had been given to Exeter and this (act
would naturally inspire a church dedication within the city %

A second Anglo-Saxon burh in Devon possessed a church dedicated to Petroc:
Lydford. The dedication is first recorded in 12375 but is probably considerably older.
Lydford was newly-founded as part of the burh system in the late ninth century® A
chureh must have been an essential element in this foundation, and may even predate
the burh foundation. The churchyard has been identified as a an’ type enclosure, that
ig, an oval built-up enclosure commonly of Celtic origin.® A single sherd of fifth to sixth
cenbury imported pottery from the nearby castle site constitutes slight evidence for
contemporary site occupation. Whilst it is not eut of the question that the dedication
may go rvightl back to a Celtic foundation, the Hkelihood is that the church acquired its
dedication at or in the perind after the foundation and organisation of the burh, agrain
the tenth Lo eleventh century,

One dedication, that of Petrockstowe, is certainly of pre-Concuest date, Although the

dedication is frst vecorded in 13453 the place-name is Petrocesfoua in the Domesday
Book. Petroc + stow, thal is, ‘the hely place of Petroe’ ™ The place name element stow,
found also in nine other Deven place-names, as wel as Padstow, is an interesting one.
Although the place-name élement is Anglo-Saxon, it appears to have been used in bor-
der areas between the Saxons and Britons to refer to a British church, and replace an
earlier British place-name containing the British Han, that is, ‘churely’. This is clearly
evidenced in the case of the Welsh border area, but less so in south-west I')ngland."i‘i
Petrockstowe has therefore been identified as a British gpraveyvard taken over by the
Anglo-Saxons and the site ol a possible lan’-type enclosure.*” ‘This need not provide an
early associntion of the site specifically with Petroc, however Gelling goes on to suggest
that the séow place-names (all into twe groups.™ The earlicer group, it is argued, wag
current up to the end of the ninth century, and involved a specitic ceference to a place
where the holy person worked, died, or was buried. Padslow falls inte this group. The
second group, it is argued, are a later development, oo earlier than 950 onwartds, and
involve a more general, mechanical use of stow with a dedicatory name meaning sim-
ply ‘chureh’ or ‘monastic house'. Gelling places Petrockslowe in this second group, and
this would certainly fit into a pattern of Petroc becoming increasingly popular and ven-
eraled from the cleventh century onwards.

Nine other churches were dedicated to Petroe, but there is no evidence to shed any
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light on how much earlier these dedicalinns cauld he. These dedications arve:

1534;" and Harpford, recorded 1537.°7 Nevertheless, alt of these places except
Dartmouth are recorded in the Domesdoy Book™ tand there is even same later docu-
mentary evidenes to suggesl thal Darlmoulh may have been o pre-Conguest minster
site).*® Whilst it is still uncertain how many settlements reenrded in the Domesday
Buok possessed churches, ™ many of the lnrger settlements which became the centres of
medieval parishes may well have alveady been church-siles by 1066, Furlhermaove,
Orme’s work on church dodications in Devon and Cornwall established two imporiaat
points. Firstly, church dedications remainad remarkably consistent throughout the
medieval pertod, with changes in dedication occurring later, often only because the
medieval dedications had been forgotten,®! Secondly, whilst in most eases the earliest
dedicatory evidence dates to the thivteenth to fifteenth centuries, some churches can be
shown Lo have already been associated with their dedicatory saints by the Lenth Lo
sleventh centuries ™ This latter conclusion is cevtainly supporied by Lhe examination
of the dedications at Newton 8t. Potrock, Hollacombe, Exeter, Lydford and
Petrockslowe set aut ahove.

In vonclusion, theretore, it is possible to make a number of statements. Cerlainly in
one case, nnit probably in fowr others parish churches in Devon had acquired dedica-
tions to SL Petroe prior to the Norman Conguest in 1066, The cull of St. Petroc, whilsl
originally centred on Padstow and Bodmin in Cornwall, had spread throughout Devon
following the acquisition of velics from Padstow (or Bodmin) by the minster of SS. Mary
and Peter in Exeter, lounded by Athelstan 930, In 1050 Exoter became the centre of
the bishopric ol Devon and Cornwall, and further able to promote the cults of saints it
held in particutar regard throughout the diocese, At the same time, Bodmin was also
prometing Lhe cult of Petroe through tts holdings in Devan, Proot of Petroc’s popularity
amongst the Anglo-Saxons ean be found in his citation in the carly cleventh century
“The Resting Places OF The Saints’ and in elevanth century Hburgical material from
Exeter, It is suggested heve thal this popularity 15 further reflegted in the number of
dedications to Petroc first recorded in the medieval peviod, and that mast, if not all of
these, originally date from the late Anglo-Saxun period. I hope therefore, that in this
study, [ have shad light on the veligious history of Devon, Il not of the sixth century,
then of the tenth and eleventh centuries.
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SHIPBUILDING AT TORQUAY

Robert Perkins

Vessels of madest deseription must have been built on the Strand for conturies,! The
records of ship registration and classification which begin in the cighteenth century
identily more than [orty merchant vessels built al Torquay belween 17865 and 1858.°

The late eighteenth century:

Prominent shipowners engaged in eoastal and overseas trade lived betwern the
Teign and Tarbhay, including the Blackallers at Maidencombe and the Bartletts al St
Marychurch. Tor Quay was in the port of Divtmouth bud had close connections with
Teignmouth. The briganline Priscilfc, 65 tons, built at "Torkey’ in 1785, wus owned in
L794 by William Fox and her master. Richard Movish, both of the parish of St
Nirholas.™ The 93 ton brig Fnefusiry was built in 1787-885 and owned by T Raw and .
Stiggings of St. Nicholas and later by Row & Co in the Newloundland tradet The ok,
built in 1788, was lengthened Lo a brig of LIS tons in 1798 and registered at Dartmouath
21 January 178 Owned by Henley of Teignmouth by 1800, =he was emplayed as a
caster and in voyages Lo Halifax. In May 1806 she was owned by John & Samuel
Whiteway of Kingsteignton, Run down and sunk off Yarmouth on 29 August 1807, she
was weighed, repaired and rewained with then untit 18137

The Cowells of Tormohamn:
In 1789 Kdward Cowcell built a second {ndustry, a brig of 91 tons, which he owned

Jointly with Aaron Neck, mariner, of Cotlinswell. Her registration wos cransferred to

Claspow in 17945 The Cowells were an obd Tormoham family wilh shipping intorests
amd feanily connections to lacat builders and merchants for several generations: Juhn
Cuwell snr (¢, 1747-2) and juric, 1788-1860) had property near the Church Hoose ol
Torre and at Ter Quay.” The brigantine Elizahet/i, 80 tons, launched in 1790, was in the
hands of John Coweall when put up lor avctian at the Bird in Hand at Torguay in
Fobruary 1798 together with her cargo of Figuera salt®, In December 1802 1 vessel of
about T3} tems, just launched, was advertised for sale by private contracl, particulars to
be obtained from John Cowell

The Revolutionary & Napoleonic Wars:

The ill-fated prvateer Dover, Coptain Mathews, prepared for sea at Torquay in the
spring of 1793, In 1764 Lwo brigs were built, The Enterprize, 97 tons, was awned by
Knix & Co by 1798 and employed in trade with Portugal until 1804." The brig
Elizaheth & Sarah, 78 tons was surveyed by Lloyds ot Waterford on her maiden voy-
age to Newloundland; swned by Searle, a name assonated with eacly speculative build-
ing development at Torquay, she was sold ta L Rowe & Co ol Tegnmouth within a year
T4 was veported that she had arvrived at Teignmoath from Figuera in January 1799, [n
1802, an a voyage [rom Lisbon to Fngland, she was taken by the enemy aod sent into
Cherhourg, 1

Twe 49 ton stoops were built lor the coasting trade in 1797: the Feronia was the first
of three vessels of this name owned by the local Goditey family '™ the Friends was to be
owned by Captain G. Webber of East Teignmouth in the coasting trade with Bristol.¥
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Alse in that or the subsequent year Lthe 115 Lon brig Orphans was built. Owned hy
Codners and armoed wilh two 3-pounders, she was employed as a transport in voyages
from London to Lisbon and Oporto until 1303 and then in the Newfoundland irade
until sold about 1810.1°

[n 1800 two brigs were built for Codiner & Co, The Agenoria, T0 tons, was surveyed
by Lloyds in November: she was sold to Warren and Co and employed in the
Newfoundland trade from 1804 until about 18155 The Wiltigm, 70 tons, was cmployed
in trade with Newloundland and Quebee, then sold ta Capt, 8. Bryant and lost in
1808.'7

The local histories record the memory of o vessel off 120 tons built and launched from
a spot near the elim tree at the western end of the Strand wnd suother of 112 tons built
there at the beginning of the century.!* The snow Testimony, 116 tons, wos built in 1801
and surveyed at Teignmouth in Mareh; lirst owned by William & Henvy Blackaller of
Stokeinteignhead (Maidencombe) she was employed between Liverpoot and Naples.
She sailed from Liverpool, Capl. J. Searle, on 9 December 1803, bound for Teignmaouth,
and was never heard of again.'?

The wars fostered the growth of the town bul caused difficulties for local shipping:
timber was lost to naval yards; shipwrights required protection from impressment; ves.
sels were seized by the snemy In 1799 the 77 ton brigantine Mery wias examined by
the customs at Terquay, having been retaken from the enemy, Only an old muin tup-
mast staysail valued at 20 shillings was found to be foreign.®® Another Mury, a
schaoner of 58 tons, was built in 1802 and later owned by Codner for the Newfoundland
trade.”t The Torabby, Mudge, from Torbay for London, was laken on 21 December 1800
and carried into Dieppe.®

On 17 June 1803 the 64 ton sloop Speedieed! was launched, one of the few Torguay
built vessels known to have had a figurehead; she was owned by Godlreys lor the const-
ing trade ! The schooner Huzard, 63 tons, was launched in 1804; she was sinveyed at
Teignmouth in April 1805 and employed as a coaster by Webber & Co. *! The brig
Union, 80 tons, was also built in 1804; soon rigged as a snow and eventually as a
schooner, she had a long working life, making her last voyage. fram the novth-east of
England to France, around 1857.2%

Harbour improvemoents:

In 1803 Sir Lawrence Palk vblained a private Act of Parliament for repairing,
enfarging, and improving the pier and quay within the part or harbour of Torquay'?
John Rennie’s scheme included o new pier and construction of guays, warehouses and
other works ‘from Torquay Bridge over Lthe Flete, alotg the besch and around to Beacon
Point’. In that year Richard Brooks established a new guarry al Torquay; barrels of
gunpowder were ordered from Mount Edgoumbe Powder Mills at Plymoulh and the
stone rippers set to work, By 1805 it was apparent that progress was limited by the
number of men that could work Brooks’ quarry. Purheck stone was ordered to cap the
work, 6,000 ft, to be shipped by 1 July 1808; the vessel shipping the first load was lost.
But the work was largely completed by 1806; the contractar was Willlam Peeke

The building cove and Beacon Yord:

It seems that the building of vessels of any size on Palk estate land on the Strand
ceased with the building of the nuays, The plan of 1807 shows Lhe pier and quay lately
arected and the small exposed ‘Cove for Building Ships & Timber Yard bevond the pier,
by Beacon Point.” In 1809 it was noted that the cove was not well adapted to the pur-
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pose, particularly in bad weuather; it was vestricted to one shipwright or partnership of
shipwrights and timber wanted in it had to be laid on the hill above. The need for a sec-
ond yard at Meadfoot was suggested ! The construetion of a slipway and other works
in the vove was apparently begun by William Pecke before the death of Sir Lawrence
Palk in June 1813, but nol completed and o road built to iL until tater "

Despite these dithculties, two vessels were launched in 1806: a 41 ton smack to be
renamed Feronie by Godiveys two years later™'; and an 82 ton brig Good Statesman,
first employed by east Devon owners between Liverpool and Lisbon, Teignmouth and
Malte until 1813, and by several subsequent owners in the enasting trade until she
foundered off $t. [ves Head on 6 March 1833.%2

A secure six acre basin was created with the completion of the new or vorth pier by
L813. The basin was convenient for refitting and enabled vessels to he laid up, ENCoUL-
aging the vesidence of winteving owners. The Robert & Moury, n 48 ton sloop. was built
in 1811 and owned by 8. Slade, blockmaker, of Tormoham and R.J. 8lade of Topsham,
who later moved to Terquay; tho sloop was employed in the coasting trade but sanlk aff
Whitstable in 1824, was weighed by Lwo smacks, and fnally lost in 1833, The Qrange
Broaneh was launched in 1812 as a 41 ton sloop but lengthened to a 67 ton brig at
Topsham in 1816. Employed in the Newfoundland trade by Rowe, she was lost on
Dmk?’s Island, Plymouth 30 November 1824.% The Fox, a 3% Lon sloop, was buill in
1813.%

Bickford & Sullock:

George Bickford wag established as a shipbuilder at Torguay by 1817, In that year
he buill the 26 ton sloop Lady Palk, owned by her master John May of Brixham . “® In
the following year he appears Lo have entered into a partnership which lasted some
five years. In 1818 Bickford & Sullock built the third Feronie, a sloop of 69 tons, preoba-
biy for the Godfreys ™ She was certainly later owned by Carter Godivey £ 1778-1840) a
local merchant.™ In 1820 occurs the name Gilbert Francis Bickford, shipbuilder®
Sulinek & Bickford built the 43 won yuwwl Frionds for William Neck and William Hunt,
mariners of Kingskerswell, in Apeil 1822 Their largest vessel, launched a month
later, was the Meridian, o 116 tou brig for John Coaker, vietualler, of Partmouth. She
provided long and useful service under muny owners, to Figuera, Newfouadland, Cadiz,
Naples, Smyrna and inceoastal teade until wreclied on Saunton Sands on 15 November
18644 ) ’

Their enterprise appears to have came to an end shortly after 1822, for in 1824
Stephen Richardson, a Brixham shipbuitder, completed the 57 ton schoomer Bellona for
the Torquay victualler Joseph Turner. Employed for two years in the coasting trade,
she was lost oflT Newtoundland in 18274 (n 1326 William Peeke jnr built and was mas-
ter of a 17 ton cutter, the Lady Lowtse: she was {ost in 18364

Developments in frade and shipping:

By 1830 trude with Newloundland had declined, Muny of the twenty vessels con-
nected with Torquay were engaged in importing timber, but the greatest number were
in the coal trade; more than 400 houses had been built between 1801 and 1831, with
45 building, and the population of Tormoham had inereased from 143 to 3582, Thare
were five regular eoasters to London.™ Passengers sailed for Newfoundland and
Quehec in the 18205 and early 18305, Tn the 18405, although the Newfoundland trade
wus atill kept up, local owners developed a trade with North America in emigrants and
iimher using ships built elsewhere. ™ Torgquay built smacks, sloops and scheeners; and
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fast ‘clipper-schooners” suttable for the fruit Lrade, but often atherwise emplaved.

Willicem Sheuw:
Shaw was haptized at Stoke Damernd in 1794 and was a shipwrighl in the yards at
Ringmore on the Teign between at Jeast IR18 and 19237 [n 1826 he built the 66 Lon

schooner Faith at Torguay for R Slade oz sole ownoer, bul soan sold to Avcher ol

Brixham.'* In the 1830s he was one of eight swnoers of pleasure boats o hive from the
sleps of Lhe pler, and a ship builder "Southern Quay’, by 1835, when there was another
shipbuilder, Williams Fales, on the Guay.? Shaw buniit at least fourteen merchant ships
at Beacon Yard between 1840 and 1858, as well os Nshing smacks and other vessels: he
was also a shipowner and manager ™

The Beacon, a schooner ol 130 tons, wos Tnunched in May TR0 She was owned at
first by five Tovquay and Paignten shareholders and largely ewmployed in trade with
Newfoundiand and the Mediterranean, Show hought oul 4 vemaining share in 1852
and sold her to William Langley. o Plymouth merchant with whorn he id other busi-
ness. Charles S8haw became her master in 1837 bul she was apparently lost soon
after!

Threo sloops followed. The Ans, 28 tons, was budt in September 1840 and owned by
her master, John Stooks of Brixham, until lost, stranded off Dartmouath, 26 May 186352
The Zebedere, 27 tons, was buill in March 1841 for Samuel Fox, sailmaker, and John
Smallridge, master marinet, of Brixham.™ The Arbilrator, 26 long, was completed in
February 1842; she was lengthened in 1855 and employed as a Dartmouth conster
until lost by April 1868.7 T'wo sluops were built in 1843, The Petrel, 29 tons, completed
in September, was owned by T & C Jay of Dactmouth & Liverpool and employed as a
coaster from Teignmouth uatil 1849.% The Hero, 26 Loas, was completed in December
and first owned by John Hrown, a Brixham shipwright. ™ Shaw shared Beacon yard
with John Eales, deseribed as a ship and boat builder, about 1844.%7 In that year he
purchased the slaop fhdin. built at Brixham in 1828, and lengthened her for service as a
collivr For a couple of vears,™

The Harrictt, 2 56 tan schooner, was completed in August 18468 Shaw had a share in
this vessel until 1851 and ewmployed her in the Meditervanean trade with William
Sullock as mastes™ The Jonay Lind, 81 tons, the first of the ‘clipper-schooners’, was
lawnched on 27 Seplember 1847.50 Another, the Escor, 105 tons, was lauached on 10
April 1849 at 2w hetore 2 erowd of 2,000 persons. She was purchased by Messrs,
Flunt for the tfruil trade fur which she was considered to be admirably adapted ‘her
model being more that of o yacht than an ordinary merchant vessel’, However, she
made her maiden vovage to New York willt passenpers. She was lengthened in 18531
A 32 ton sloap, Valentine, wis Liunched in February 1850, She was sold to William
Simpson of Liverpool v 1351 but Shaw retained a share; she was a Torquay conster
until about 18567

The schooner Christapher, 112 tons, was launched by Miss Shaw on 17 June 1832
amidst the bareabs of a lacge number of persons assembled on the oceasion’. Owned
by Holmwond, Stabh, Row & Co, her maiden voyage was intended to be to
Newfoundland and then to the Mediterranean.™ A 50 ton cutter called either Charfotte
or Charles was lnunched on 16 June 1855, She is said by White Lo have been the last
vessel built by Shaw, an crror fbllowed by subsequent authors.™ The Waee, schooner,
50 tons, was alse built in 1855, Owned by Vallance & Co of Shoreham she was a
Torguay conster until 1861.% Shaw owned a brig, Paforyra, which was lost off the east
eoast in October 1856 when taden with coals and ivon pipe for the Torquay Gas
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Company™

The Cortest, a clipper-schooner ol 133 tons and built to special survey was launched
on the moming of 31 March 1868, witnessed by the usual large crowd despile heavy
rain. Owned by William Shasw, with her master Charles Shaw having Ri6dthue, and
morlgaped to William Langley of Plymouth, she was employved in the Mediterranecan
and Newfoundland trades in 1859-60. She cleared New York for Queesnstown with o
cargo of grain on 23 November 1860 and was never heard of apain.’™ Show appears to
have given up the yard by 1866; il was buried beneath new harbour works when
Beacon Quay and Haldon Pier were begun in 1867,

Connections with Paignion:

William Bales, born at Cockington ¢ 1795, was at. Greenhithe, Kent ¢, 1830-32. As
already noted, he was desceribed as a shipbuilder at Torquay by 1838, and was at
Paignton in 1851.% William Lear, born at. 8t. Marychureh ¢ 1800, worked in the ship-
vards at St. Nicholas ¢.1828-37. Fle was at Paignton by 1847 when he built the 30 ton
sloop Hannah for R.J. Slade of Torquay % The Dynamene, awned by John Crossman of
Tovgquay, was lengthened ab Paignton in 18537 Lears launched an 85 ton sehooner, the
Three Brothers, in 1864 which they employed as a Torquay coaster,’!

Note: Tonnage is given in ‘old measurement’ for vessels built before 1838; tn ‘new
measurement’ from 1836 to 1854, and accarding ta the 1864 Act therealter. Difforent
Hgures for ‘tons burthen’ may be found in same contemporary veports of launches.

References:

L. A painting of the Strand e 1780 showing o fishing smack heing built {Torre Abbey
Cuat. No. 194 Fis the subject of @ Hithograph ol ¢ 1430 f8C 3181): see also White, J.T.,
History of Torgaay, 1878, faving p 121 tredrawny, Ellis, A C. Historical Survey of
Torquay plate 210 po33R, or Russell, P History of Torguay plute 22 (where Lhe title
refers Lo 17600 Blewitd, (O, Panorama of Torguay second edition, 1832 p35, notes
thad hall o century bizlore ‘on Chis beach vessels and Dshing bhoals were built and
Lhe Nills above 1t were rocky and uncultivated.

2. The principal sources used are: Lloyd's Repgister of Shipping, io which vessels built
at Torguay may be Tound between 1795 and 1888 (LR Lhe rival Shipowncers’
Register published from 1800 to 1833 (LIVS); the Mercantile Navy List, first isgued
in 1857 andl with relevant details until 1901 {MNLY: Shipping Registers for Lhe
Port of Excter tESR), 1786-1878, and for Dartmouth (2SR}, 1824-1871 [ DRO
32805/1-10, 33085/1-10[; Transcripts and Transactions, which survive from 1814
and have been examined for the ports of Exeter and Dartmouth to 1830 [PRO BT
107/162-2021 apart from the volume for 1823 which is missing, Some details of
mavements and the fate of vessels have been found in Lloyd's List (LL), atded by
Lloyd's List Indox after 1838, Local newspapers consulted wore the Exefer flving
Fozt (EFP) and the Torguay Directory (7D Fight vessels listed as built at Torbay
between 1781 and 1830 have been omitted from this artiele, including Chance, a
108 tan brig listed in LR 1808-13 as built Torquay 1797, and in LR/S 1807-13 as
112 tons, built Torbay 1797 and lengthened 1304,
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lewitt, O., op.cit., p.288.

For views of Beacon Yavd sce photographs reproduced in Bouguet, M., Westeountry
Sail, Merchant Shipping 1840-1960, 1971, pp.22,79; and Ellis, op.cit., fig. 209
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give glimpses of the yard and ils approaches with varying degrees of artistic
licence, as is appropriate to the conflict between port and resort; see for instance
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RICHARD WOLSTON: BRIXHAM ENTREPRENEUR
EXTRAORDINARY

Bridget Haward

Richard Walter Wolston (179918871 wax o solicilor and notary public at Brixham, clerk
to the Harbour and Market Commissioners, secretary of the Torbay und Brixham
Harbour of Reluge and Dock Company, commissioner of the Dartmouth and Torquay
Turnpilte: Trast, and Porluguese viee-consul. Bnough for one man for one lifetime? No.
Add: properly developer, manufacturer of sarthenware, yuorry swner and limestone
shipper, proprietor of an tmportant iron mine, founder of the Torbay Paint Works, chair-
man and owner of Lhe Torbay aund Brixham Ratllway Company. Truly an extraordinary
man but one who by over-extending himself brought about his own downfall. Fle was a
goficitor who did not understand the law, an innovalor whoe did nol patent his process, o
company director whn did nol understand finance.

Wolston was born in London in 1799, although his family’s arigins were at Staverton
and Forbryan.! After qualifying as a solicitor at Furnivals Inn, he set up in practice at
Brixham in 1829, built himsell a lurge house in the centre of the lown and bepgan
mvesting in property, inctuding an acre of land and o windmilt on Furzeham Common,
overlanking Larbay. He installed tenants to woerk the mill, but discovered that the land
was muore valuahle than the machinery, As well as clay and ochre, it contained ivon ore
of a partieniarly valuable composition. He therefore got rid of his lenants and hegan
mining in about 1841, By 1847 he was selling appreciable guantilies to the great
Cyfarthfa fronworks in South Wales,” and had installed John Dennis. o Cornishman,
to mamage the mine which they nomed Wheal Prosper,

Wolston also found uge for the other subslances on the site. He manufbetured carth-
eowvare jars and sewage pipes front Lhe elay, and mixed it with sand to make firebricks
and tiles. The ochre was at firsl 2ol Lo loea! Gshermen to preserve their sails and give
them Lhe traditional red eolour; boiled with tay, oak-bark and taltow, it was vainted on
to the eanvas in speeial harking yards'. But by 1846, Wolston had found another, more
lueeative product that conld be made from the ochire. This was a paint, but no ordinary
paint: il prevented iron from rusting and was uniyue.

During the eightecnth century had come the development of cast iron with s differ-
ent physiral propeviies (rom those of the traditional wrenghl iron, and in the French
wars this new metal was made into guns and other armaments. When peace came in
1815 it hegan to be used to build bridges, railways, vngines ot all kinds, factaries, aque-
ducts, and so furih, but it had a fatal flaw - it rasted, unlike wrought iron. Great men of
the day, including 8ir Humphrey Davy, tried in vain to prevent this, but the answer Lo
the problem came [rom an unexpected source, Richard Wolston’s son-in-law, John
Murly Rencall. :

Rendall was perhaps the earliest homeopathic chemist in the South West, having
apened a dispensary in Carey Place. Torguay. in 1847 and others later nt Exeter,
Plymauth and alse in London - in Tulham and The Strand. At the time of the invention
of the paint, he was engaged Lo Wolston's daughter Catherine and anxious to be helpful
to his prospeetive Father-in-law, He discovered that a protective paint could he made by
prinding achre and mixing it with {insved oil Lo preduce an oxide primep that prevented
rust forming on cast ivon.” Before this, there were of course other processes such as gal-
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vanistng, which involved iran sheets being dipped into chemicals and then heated, but
such treanlment could not be given to the enormous girders needed for major engineer-
ing projects, whereas the new primer could be applied to the components of bridges, cte,
and also userd to keep them free of corrosion vuee they were built,
" This was a very profitable use for one of the waste products of the mine, and manu-
factwre proceeded at the windmill site until demand oulb-stripped capacity. Wolslon
then obtained more land and buill a special factory for making the paint at Bencly
Quarry beside the sea at Oxen Cove, Brisham, Large sales were made to the Royal
Navy, and another important custamer was [sambard Kinpdom Brunel (1806-59),
whose Royal Altert Bridge at Saltash wus given a coating of Wolston's “Torbay Iron
Paint’ ag its first protection against rust.

All seemed to he going very well unlil ancther local man decided that he ton would
make a rust preventative paint. Samuel Calley 11815-87) discovered what he thought
was iron ore on his lund off New Read in Brixham,? but an finding that it was mevely
achre, planned to manufreture a similar coating to that of Wolston's. He took out a
patent in 1858,% alleging that he was producing an anti-fouling composition for ship's
keels, wsing coal tar, ochire and turpentine, bul before long he was selling a rust inhibit-
ing rxide. His marketing was good, and by 1584 the Record of Madern Engineering was
warning its readers to tnsist on Calley's paint and avold any other that might wppear to
reserable it but was inferior®

There was nothing that Wolston cfuld do. His rival had a patent, and Rendall had
not bothered Lo apply for one. There: were continual pin-pricks. Calley caled his primer
“Lorbay Iron Oxide Paint’ ax against Wolston's ‘Torbay [ron Paint’, and named his fac-
tory The Genuine Torbay Paint Warks, Some local histories say that the men were
partners.” Nathing could be less trae, They were hitler enemies. Wolston had developed
the original praduce bud through failure to register the formula he allowed Calley to
profit. The two paints achieved world-wide renown and it is difficuit at this remove ta
know which was used where. The years went by and, after the protagenists’ deaths, the
Lwa companies were amalgpamated in 1897, Wolston and Rendall were forgoiten and
Brixham wag advertised in Kelly’s Divectories for many vears ag ‘the home of Calley’s
paint. Well known and used throughout the workd.

In the midst of all this rivalry, Wolstan eontinued mining iron ore at Wheat Prosper,
bul since he did not veport his output to the government’s Mining Recovd Oftice {and
there was then va logal obligation to do so) we do not konow how much he was produe-
ing. He was also nuaveying limestone, selling it at Exeter and Topsham, and hoping to
exlend his trade to Barnstapl: in competition with imports from South Wales S [n 1861,
to his irritation, his workmen cut into a prehistoric cavern at Bench Quarry, near his
paial [actory, and experts like William Penpelly came to investigate. Wolston is said to
have exhibited lively interest tn the procecdings, but one can sense his impatience to
continue digging out limestone to make the money he needed, rather than he held up
by ‘archaestogical nonsense’?

He was soon to spend all hig finances in pursuit of his real enthustasm, which was to
bring a railway by Brisham, a project he had been pramoting since 1845, Eventually he
secured the necessary legislation, and the Brixharn and Torbay Railway Act 1864 (27
& 28 Vie, cap cexlvii) permitted the building of a very short hranch line that came off
Brunels Dartmouth and Torbay Railway al Churston station. [t was opened on 28
February 15681

Wolston passionately believed that the prospecity of Brixham depended on its hav-
ing a railway that could connect with the large markets for fish at Bristo] and London,
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and, because the local people would nol put their money into the project, he decided to
pay all the costs himsell. He was his awn contractor for eonstroction of the line, paid
all the legal expenses, bought the one engine with which the service hegan, and
financed everything to the lune of about £40,000. The caper hankrupted him.

Adess committed man than Wolstan would not have embarked on such a scheme, nor
been so inept at managing the aceonnts, nor allowed himself to have so many fingers in
5o many pies at the same time. He had taken out loans to finance the Yine but the prof-
its were insulficient to service them, particularly because he was penalised by his
apparent ignorance of two aspeets of ratlway management. These involved the so-called
parliamentary iraing, and the payment of terminals,

Train companies had to pay a lax of ¥ of a penny per mile per pussenger carried, but
could elaim alleviation under the Ruilway Regulations Act 1344 (7 & 8 Vie, cap 85), pro-
vided that they ran at least one train n day each way on which the fare for third class
passengers did not exeecd 1d per mile. The length of the Brixham line was just over
two miles and the fare was always 3d. This made Wolston liable for the tax. This
amounted, for example, to £48 out of Licket sales of £971 in 1875: nol a large proportion
but enough te be significant when things were tight.

The other drain on his finances was ‘the terminals’. He did not know that, where
through rail traffic was carrvied by lwo or mare companies, those al exch end of the
roule received, out of the gross takings, an allowance for terminal services. The
Brizham line joined that of the South Devon Railway Company at Churston, and the
SDR were taking the terminals, as if the journey began with them, thus gaining signif-
icanL, bul unearnad, money. They were eventually taken to court and obliged to repay
£1,785 but by this time Waolston, who seemed ohlivious of the dishenesty, had heen
declared bankrupt and had left Devon.

He was only able to pay his creditors 2s 3d in the pound. When he died, he left £62
10s in ¢ash but many lasting memorials in Brixham, The paint works remained work-
ing until 1961, but on Calley's site, giving employment to hundreds of men and women.
Torbay tron axide was made until the oulhreak of war in 1939, but uot before many
similar products were being made throughoul the warld, their manufacturers however
being unaware of their debt lo Rendall and Wolston. The railway was taken over by the
GWR in 1883 and closed, as part of the Beeching cuts, in 1983, too early to he resur-
rected by enthusiasts, and now built over. The one remaining legacy of Wolston is the
accesa roule Lo the station Lhat he cut through the cliffs, ' connecting the vld
‘Overgang’, used by Willinmn of Orange’s soldiers when they landed in 1688, and the
suburh of Furzeham that developed because of its nearness to his railway. Today this
road is one of the main approaches to Brixham havbour, but does not earry his name,

Despite all this. Wolston has been almost forgotten, and this extraerdinacy man is
only commemeraied by a small close ol new bungalows, Albrnistic ov money grahbing,
enthusiastic or foolish, he was a henefactor without henour in his own town.

Notes
1. Family tree courtesy of the Society of Genealogists, London.
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REVIEWS

tReaders ave advised that opicions expressed by reviewers are their owvn and not nee-
essarily those of the Editor or of the Duvon History Society as o whole).

Parson Jack Russell: The Hunting Legend, 1795 - 1883 by Charles Noan,
Halsgrove, Tiverton, 2006, 143 pp., illustrated, C16.590. [SBN 1 84114 060 3

From carliest Limes clerics bave (aken Ume off from the pussail of souls to hunt selec-
tively the beasts over whom the guod Lord has granted man dominien. Among the
monastic assels disposed of af the Dissolution were packs of hounds, The quarry then
wiis decr, Hul by the late eighteenth century fox-hunting was taking vver, to reach its
apogee in public esteain - all those tiated prints of The Chace and The Kl - during the
nineleenth and, at length, to meet criticisn to the point of violence in the tuter twenli-
elh and as we stand on the brink of the twenty-first, During the heyday among the
mosl enthusiastic {followers of the hounds were the ineumbents of rural parishes,
notably in the sprawling diocese of Fxeter, There wers some thivly there around 1830,
to the chagrin of thal irascible disciplinavian, Bishop Henry Phitipotts. The most noto-
ricus of these was John Froude (1777-1852), the unbkely viear of Kaowstone and
Mollund, « skilled hunter certainly, but a deunkard, 2 curser, malicious, quarrelsome
and reputedly a consorl of thieves. WG Flosking has no time for ‘this unspeakahble oaf”,
while Chares Noon, this boak’s author, seces it as ‘the glory of the man that he did not
give a damn about anylhing. Noon enjoys ‘making fun of those whose hobby is political
carrectiiess’. (See 8. Bhanji, ‘Parson Froude - villain ar vietim?, Deven Efistorian, 59,
Oct., 1999},

A much more aceeptable chacacter emerges from Noeon's admiring hiography of John
Russell, who got inte the Detionary of Nationa! Biography within a few years of his
lamented demise, not just because of his hunting achievements. Nooan, head of hislory
at Bluodells, carcefully delineates RusselVs tamily background and the tough regime he
endured at the school, where he sel the patteen of his lile by running a pack of hounds.
From Bxeter Cellege, Oxford, he acquired uselul social refationships, which, with his
meagre degree, an incambeney, and shortly a sensible marriage, provided him with the
essential means L exercisa the lalents with which he seems Lo have been boen - Lo
manage horses, hoands and hunters, all for the chase lrom a view to o death of ‘the
dack denizen of the forest - the wild fox af Dartmoor” and beyond. Though he was ready
ab vavious times in his cerieal black (o have o go at otters, haves (timids”) and stags,
Loy, it was cunning Reynard whe gave hin Lhe fong briliant’ runs that calied him out
several times o week, year after year, decade adter decade, until at 75, now ‘the revered
slder statewsman of Devon fox-hunting’ and its most efficient public relations man, he
had to let go his last small ery of hounds, (By then T had developed the brewd of
sparky little tervievs which has Samortalised’ his nanme).

In his varvious livings Russetl was certaindy conscientious in meeting his pastoral
obligations, regular in his Sunday services - ‘Domi’ he calls them in his informative
diaries, which Noon draws upen coplously - and attenlive to his pavishioners ucross the
gorial spectrum, [t took unfailing enerpy and organisational skill to the point of genius
to combine it all, But one senses gpiritual shidlowness in & clergyman untouched by the
concerns of the evangelical, Pusceyite and Usford mavements. Nor could he be called a
‘muscular Christian’. He did get involved, somewhat veluetantly, in arcane north Devon
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pohitics and a few court cases, but he was not ol a quarrelsome or litigisus disposition;
indeed, he had a reputation for the common touch in keeping the peace of the parish,
e showed genuine interest in moves for the improvement of Devon agricullure, was
a freemason {as many of his brethren were then) and held various local offices, But
fivst and last he was o hunter. It would net have oeeurred to him to come up with the
high-minded arguments that present-day weets find it necessavy to deploy in delvnce
it their doings, nor would he have understood whal it is that drives their oppensnts.

The man whe emerges from Noon's affectionate portrait was by the standards of his
times certainly s genuine Devon worthy. But Noon sees ‘grounds for rogarding Russell
as one of the greal parish clorgy of the nincteenth century’. It is havd to follow him so
far. Russell bovers between heing a notable sporting parson and a remarkable clerical
sportsman, with a leaning towards the latter, This book has been well-regearched, s
well-written, well-illustrated and well-produced. But, sadly, it lacks an index. Clearly
Noon has taken some time o writing il, but publication sugyests it will be taken as a
timely contribution te the current controversy over ‘hunting with dogs’. Howevon, it
seems unlikely to change the hearts and minds of readers on either side.

Ivan Rools,

Plymouth (Drake’s} & Stanehouse Leats. By Rav Bush. The Old Plymouth Socicty.
2000, b4pp. 44 b&w photographs, 12 plans and maps. £68 .58 {encl p&p) and free Lo
members. ISBN 1 800457 05 9.

Mention of Drake’s Leat immediately attracts the attention of the Devon public and af
civil engineers genevally. Raymond Bush bas made a careful histerical and geographi-
cal study of this leat and the lesser known Stonehouse leat and in Part One has
described the renl reasons for their construction over 400 years ago. Research into the
historical circumstances reveal that the Acts of Parlinment ta obtain a water supply
were nat, as one might have imagined, for drinking purpeses, but to maintain a supply
for the vartous tidal mitls that were becoming distressed beenuse hy the mid-sixteenth
ventury sea levels were dropping and the mill pools were sturting to dey out. There was
therefore a need to convert tidal mills tn stream driven mills. Bush deseribes how a
committee nf leading people was formed, including the town mills leascholder, Sir
Francis Drake, to frame a provisional Plymouth Water Bill for & watercourse that
would be acceptable to Pactiament while al the same time disguise the real reason.

The Plymouth leat would he 7 feet wide and was surveyad by Robert Lampen to
exlend from the River Meavy aver 17.5 miles to Scourpool, From the intake at a height
of 879 feet to sea level this was a gradient of | in 137, very veasonable for an earth bed,
and showed great accomplishment of Lampen in setting out the voute. The involvement
of Roberts hrather, James, as overseer of construction with two foremen and a gang of
35 men enabled construction to begin in December 1580 and be completed within five
menths.

Part One voncludes by shoewing that a similar bill was rapidly proposed by the
Stonehouse Council, using the same sham reasons that had been used for the
Plymauth Bill, in order to imprave the water supply lor thetr Stonehouse mill.

Part Two describes the route of the Plymouth leat with the aid of its suparimposition
on extracts from Ordnance Survey larpe seale plang and with pholographs of the still
existing parts of the area through which it ran. Here one can find it passing through
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Yelverton, from Beverstan Way to Derriford roundabeut, and thence around Crownhill
[orl to Manacdon roundabout. (£ then meanders avound the contowrs to Long Rowden
and from there to Armada Way, and then to Millbay,

Part Three describes the source fur the Slonshouse leat in the Tor estate area off
FHlartley and how this is riddled with underground springs. Again plans and photo-
graphs are used to deseribe the voute. This therelore was a much shorter leat, starting
ag it did not fur south of what is now the Manadon reundabout and skirting the east-
ern side of the Central Park, coming to the south of North Road station and running
close to the onetime Royal Naval Hospital.

This is a valuable addition Lo the New Series Publications of the Old Plymouth
Society 2000 and onee one heginsg to read it, one ix left wondering al the Parliamentary
systerm of the day and the skill ol the surveyor, Robert Lampen with his limited instru-
ments of that time.

A, Brian George

Policing the peninsula (1850-2000), by Simon Dell - Newton Abbol: Forest
Publishing, 2000 - 144p, i1l map; 27em - ISBN 0-9527297-9-2: £5,99

Taking in Lurn the sixteen major forees which have preceded the Devon and Cornwall
Constabulary, the author gives a brief historical introduction, including the dates of
foundation and disbanding of each foree. This s tatlowed by a good collection of photo-
graphs, usually well documented, depicting officers and incidents suth as road acei-
dents and meetings, some as early as the 1850s. There is a wealth of pictorial informa-
tian for those interested in uniforms and insignia. Many of the pholographs have been
tiken from the eollections of retived and serving officers as well as rom the archives off
the Devon and Cornwall Constabulacy The author is to he congratulated in producing
a properly stitched hardbook book at such a reasonable price, but unfortunatety sheve
is no index ar indication of further roading All profits frem the sale ol the book will
benefit the Devan and Cornwall Constabulary Widows and Orphans Compassianate
Fund Charity.

Tan Maxted

The Torbay Paint Com\pany: its origins and history in Brixham and
Dartmouth, by Bridget Howard. Dartmouth History Research Group, 2000, vi,34p:
ill,maps;2lem. ISBN [-889011-18-8, £3.00.

While parish histories proliferate, therve are relatively fow good studies of local indus-
tries and businesses that reach publication. Often these that do are anniversary or
publicity ventures and the nuthors have access to the records of the firm and (often
selective) memories of manayement. [n the case of the Torbay Paint Company the main
sites of their former activity are now g ear park in Brixham on the mast highly con-
taminated land, and a block of flats on the factory site in Dartmouth. Yet o1 much of its
life, which extencled from 1848 to 1961 in Hrixham and from 1874 to 1927 in
Dartmouth, the Company was of world-wide significance. The chemist John Rendall
had discovered in the 18403 that ochre, the unwanted by-product of his father-in-law
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Walter Wolston's tron mine at Brixham, could be used to manmilaetare a cust-inhibiting
paint. Products developed from this came to be used across the world fram Brunels
hridge at Saltash to the Zambesi and the Falklands, In the 19505 the Campany’s paint
testing stalion was considered the best of 1t= kind i the world. To troce (e succession
of firmg involved in this important lost Devon industry thee suthor bas drawn an her
experience of working in the Depariment of Trade and [udustry to link specialisad
commercial and technical information souwrves L Lhe more traditional ones used by the
loeal historian, Thus she uses maps (Lithe apportionments and Ordnance Surveyl,
trade directories, newspapors, census returns, Joeal authority records and pholographs
in local museum collections alongside patents, parliamentary veports, technical period-
ieals (Mining Jowrnal, Procoedings of the Institute of Chemical Engineers) and early
general studies of the iron and steel industry to set the underlaking in its broader sci-
entific, commercial and social context. The result is a detailed but readable study which
las been able to comploment and at times correet more general histovies, for example
by revealing the rivalry between the two firms run by Wolston and Colley before their
eventual merger. 1t forms an excelent 27th paper in the long-running sevies published
by the Dartmuouth Hiztory Researeh Group, even though the majority of its content
relates tw Brixham,

lan Maxted

Exeter: The Travellers' Tales, Volume One, Ed. Todd Gray. The Mint Pross. 2000
Iustrated, xvi + 196 pages. 42 map extracts + frontispicce. £12 .89,
[SBN 1-903356-00-8.

Exeter is the first of o series of travetlers’ tales to be produced by Dr Tadd CGray, Others
ter follow over the nexd Lwo yvears are of Cornwall, East Deven, Dorsel. Somevscet and
South Devon. The present volume consists of extracts from deseriptions of the city by
45 visitars over Lthe pertod frony 1542 to 1837 The editor's inbroduelion consisis af =
useful analysis of Lhe visitors” fifty-two accounts and mentions Lhal more than Gifty oth-
ers have been identilied and will form a second volume. Each ol the travellers” tales s
contaitted in an unnumbered chapter headed by a clearly produced extract from a map
of Exeter coughly contemporanecus with the tale, the source Ivom which the tale is
extracted with notes about other available sources and a briel bingraphical nole by the
editor an that partiewlar traveller. Some of Lthe sources are primary and held al
libraries, including the British Library. Some at record offices, such ag those of Devon,
Cornwall and Semerset, while others are printed works, Extracts from the familiar
Forly Tours i Devon and Corneat! edited by Richard Pearse Chope are used for some
of the tales atthough Dr Gray refers to the version edited by Luey Foubmin Smith for
Leland’s tale.

An extract from Johin Leland’s Brinerary (15420 shows that he considered Exeter to

be ‘strongly waled and maintained with ‘divers faie Streets’. Elihu Bumet of

Birmingham {1864), thought highly of the city, too. He wrote Lhat Txeter, all in il -
location, scenery and history -1 huwdly surpassed by anv ety in England®. Many others
appeared less generous. Miss Caroline Girlie of London (1760) was ‘greally disappoint-
ed’ with Exeter. Fanny Burney, nl=o of London {1758, thaught Lthe ‘town’ was ‘close and
ugly’ and, writing two years later, that 10 was toa narrow, too popalous, teo dirty, & too
ill paved to meet with my sublime applavses’. Muartin Dunsford of Tiverion { LB0O)
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referved to the 'ith. genervally overspread’ over the streels while [obert Soutliey
(1802 considered Lhat Exeter has ‘Uhe unsavoury odour of Lishon'.

[t seems to have rained a lot during this second half of the milleanium. The
Reverend John Skinner (1829) wrote gloomily that it has senreely ceased raining sinee
hrealklast’ and that Y0 shall esteem himself lueky 1 Tescape Inl cold having sat with
tay wot Lhiags on in the church for nearly an hour”, Mrs Betsey White's 11859) explo-
ration of lixeler seems to have been spoiled by ‘heavy showors',

‘The tates often say much about the authors. Justice Sir Thomas Rokeby of Yorkshire
{16893.71 seems to have been unencumbered by judicial impartiality and praised
‘Chriztaper Savory Esq, sheriff as ‘a good man & well affected to the government’ but
dismissing “['vistam Boudage, under sherilf tas) a Jacobitish Tory’. Margnyet Halsey's
CLOATY tule illustrates some misconceptions held by the Americans of the British and
vite versa in the years belore the war

Thix prafessionally erafied and very readable book makes one impatient to obtain
the suceeeding valumes. Will Bill Bryson's experiences looling for a meal in Exeter one
evening i 1973 feature in Volume 2 of Exefer. one wonders!

DL B Thomas

Early Devon Maps. Bdited with an [ntroduction by Mary R Ravenhill & Margery M
Rowe. Friends of the Devon Archives, Uxeter, 2000, {Hlustrated. v ¢ 58 pages. 48
coloured illustrations + frontispiece + 3 moneschrome maps, £12.00 (£10 to Friends).
[SBN 1 85522 728 2.

Early Devon Mups is the fivst of vecasional publieations to be published by Friends of
Devon Avchives. This volume eonsists of eolovred reproductions of twenty-six maps pro-
duced from the middle of the sixteenth century to cireo 189971700 The reproductions
are preceded by a foreword by Tony Campbell, the Map Librarian of the British
bibrary, and an introduction by the two editors. The editors mention in the introdue-
tion that the Lwenly-six maps chosen lorm a very small part of Devon's maiscripl
maps being studied to form a list and description of all the known large-seale Devon
maps which will be publshed some time alter 2001, The maps ave reproduced in the
colour of the original whicli. the editors point out, may not be the colour applicd when
the maps were prepaved. Interestingly some of the colour conventions correspond with
thase used at least watil the early part of the twentieth century. The map reproductions
ave to o reduced size hut generally not se reduced as to prevent details such as seript
from being readable, Data such as the document relerence, the date of the origimal
map, nutional grid reference, ete, is stated for cach of the map reproductions together
with o description af the map and comment about the surveyor. where known. the
scale, if stated, and so farth,

Two other outhorities on Devon maps are Maps and History in South-West Englond
edited by Katherine Barker and Roger Kain 0191y and The Printed Maps of Decon
Couertty Mups 1575-1837 by Wit Batten and Francis Bennett (19960, Early Devon Maps
N ne way competes with these but acts as their companion. The editors clearly intend
the bonk to be a taster Tor 2001 and in that regpect they have succevded,

The maps chosen are likely all Lo bi: arviginal, that is, they weve preparad, probably
by the surveyor, from his measurements and observations on the site of his survey, Thisg
is 1y conlrast to many of the well known county maps which were copied from carlier
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original surveys. John Speed’s beautiful map of the County of Devon, for example, i< an
updated version of Christapher Saxton’s map published thirty-five years earlier. Map
5, the Newenham Abbey lands an page 12, is a particolarly interesting sixteenth cen-
tury example of what seems to he survey by triangulation. The 'mayp’, which today
would be referred to as a ‘plot’, appears to be a closed traverse, incomplete (o itself but
usedd a5 a base from which irregular detail could be located by vight angle offsets. On
the other hand, it might have been prepared solely to assess an approximate area of
the Abbey lands. The length of each of the traverse lines is figured, the unit of meas-
urament probably heing the rod, pole or perch fstandardised as 16.5 feet).
No map loving Deven historian should be without this hoek.

D L B Thomas

The Devan Almanac by Todd Gray. The Mint Press, 2000 210pp. £12.99 ISUN -
G03366-01-8

This unusual work gathers tugether historical items yidating to Devon, collected from a
wide variety of printed sources, arranged ag a sovies of anniversaries for every day of
the year Numbers of items noted for each day vary from three to nine or ten, and most-
ly comprise a brief sentence. The majdrity of entries record events frum Lhe filteenth to
the twentieth centuries although there are some earlier ones. We learn, for example,
that on 1 March 1160 ‘The nuns of Polsloe were granted a burial ground’. Many record
tragedies, or examples of the harshness of earlier days, such as: (or § February 1677,'A
Bamstaple vessel, with coal from Swansea, sank off the Welsh coast and all the crew
and passengers drowned’, and for 18 February 1629 ‘Richard Lewis’ punishmenl for
fathering Joan Waterman's illegitimate baby was to pay fifteen pence weekly mainte-
nance whereas she was publicly whipped' More cheerful maiters, however, also
abound. On 2 September 1785 "There were {tallan fireworks set off in Cathedral Close
in Exeter’ and on 2 May 1844 'Crowds watched trains arrive at Exeter 5t David’s sta-
tion and small boys wenl through the streets alarming locals by imitating traing’ whis-
tles'.

Significant historvical dates are noted, as on 22 November 1558: ‘Blizabeth was pro-
claimed Gueen at Exeter in the morning....." and for 3.13 September 1752 'Nothing hap-
pened in Devon except the date changed’. Imagination is stimulated by an entry for 3
October 1792: It was veparted from Exeter that ‘the celebrated” [ Graham had given
a series of lectures “on his newly adapted syslems of earth-bathing, in a garden on
Southernhay where he exhibited to his numerous auditors himself buried up to the
chin for several hours™” Modern references are by no means overlooked. On 25
Febiruary 1904 “The first woman to take oul a driving licence in Exeter was Miss
Katherine Rose Budd'. Cutstanding events of recent history are also noted, such as the
major Second World War air ruds on Plymouth and Exeter, and the Lynmouth fload
disaster of 1952,

Attractively produced, with marginal illustrations repraduced {rom engravings and
lithographs, the beel commands compulsive attention. It is one that might find an
appreciated place on v guest room’s bedside table - although perhaps not for the most
sgqueamish visitor!

FHelen Harris

SOME RECENT BOOKS ON DEVON YOU MAY HAVE MISSED

[t has been a prolific period for historical publications in Devon of late and it is diffi-
cult even for the Westcountry Studics Library to keep up with the output of presses at
a time when the book is supposed to be in its death-throes.

Suraly the mosl impressive local history publication of 1999 was the heavyweight
Histurical atlas of South-West Englond, ediled by Roger Kain and the Inte William
Ravenhill, the culmination of many years ol effort by the centre for South Western
Hislorieal Studies and published for the Centre by the University of Exeter Press.
There are contributions on a wide range of tepics relating Lo the history of Devon and
Cornwall by sixty experts, with an interesting section al the end on the development of
the two major urban centres in the ares, Exeter and Plymouth. While there are 400
maps in the 600 large fbrmat pages, this {s more than an atlas and will he a key refer-
enee work on Lhe region for many vears Lo come. The fivst printing was sald out and in
May 2000 a secund printing was called tor. [t price is £65.00 (15BN (-85929-434-7).
One drawback to this weighty tome; there is no index,

Halsgrove bave been busy at a more fveal level in their series of community histo-
ries. Richly illusirated by photographs, these are usually a community effort and the
extent of participation can he seen from the lengthy lists of subseribers in most vol-
umes, Those received by the Devan History Society inctude: Waodbury: the fwentieth
century revisited, by Roger Stokes: Widecombe-in-the-Motr: u pictorial history of the
Dartmoor village, by Stephen H. Woods; The book of Torbay, by Frank Pearce;
Pasthridge: the heart of Dartmoor, by Reg Bellamy; The book of Lamertun, by Anne
Cole; The book of Loddisweil, by the Loddiswell Parish History Group; The book of
Manaton, also a co-operalive effort; The book of Plymtree: the parish and its people,
edited by Tony Eames; The book of Morchard Bishop, by Jeff Kingaby: The book of
Meavy: Dartmoor parish. village and river, by Pauline Hemery: The book of Bampton,
by Caroline Seward and The book of Cormeood and Lutton, by the Cornwood Parish
Map Project Group. These volumes normally retail at £19.95 and in many instances fill
gaps in the histortcal and topographiesl coverage of smaller communities, Details of
these and other Halsgrove and Devon Books titles are available from Halsgruve
House, Chinon Court, Lower Moor Way, Tiverton Business Park, Tiverton, BX16 658 or
on their website: http/Awww halsgrove.com/

One of the DHS Council members, Todd Gray. has set up the Mint Press in Exeter
and has launehed an ambitious series of publications with his delightfu) Devon
almanae, a collection of histarical snippels for each duy of the year His series The frav-
eller’s toles, extracts [rom writings, published and unpublished, by visitars to the region
has been launched with volume 1 on Exeter. To lollow are volumes on East Devon and
Cornwall during 2000 and South Devon, Dorset and Somerset in 2001, A series on his-
torical engravings is also planned. the fivst Exefer engraved s due to appear late in
2008 Details from The Mint Press, 18 The Mint, Exeter EX4 $BL.

Other local histories appeared across Lhe tounty with the approach of the millenni-
um. A few examples only: Clayhidon: @ parish on the Blackdowns, by the Clayhidon
Local History Group, The millennium history of fnxtow, by Alison Grant, the
Payhembury milleniniun book, appropriately produced by the Payhembury Millennium
Bosl Group, The time of thelr lives: a personal history of Tawestock, by Tawstoek History
Society and Newfon 5t Cvrew: a vilfage history, compiled by vesidents of the village. It
i5 o be hoped that the groups wha put these and other publications together will be
oble to continue their activities. Let the world kogw about your existenve by informing
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the Devon History Sociely und also by making sure that vour details are up-to-date on
the Library Service's organisations dolabase by cantacting in the first instance the
Jommunity Information Librarian, Exeter Central Libirary, Castle Street, Exeter X4
3PQ, e-madl sshort@devon-ce.govuk.

Many of you will know of the Pietoriel memaorivs series heing produced by the
Francis Frith photographic archive. Recently vilumes have appeared on Torbay,
Dartmoeor, around Barnstaple, nround BExeler, Iilvacombe and the South Devon coast.
All i all, there is a wealth of material in print ol present. Most of this ends up in the
Westcountry Studies Library mnd is listed in the Devon bibliography and on the inter-
net. Please make sure thal you lel the Westecountey Studies Library have a copy of any-
thing you publish. We are prepared to pay lor them - but donations are always wel-
come! Consider it as easting your bread upon the water, as we can then use details of
the book to publicise it in our listings and as a basis for further orders.

lan Maxted, County Local Studies Librarian
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OTHER PUBLICATIONS RECEIVED

South Molton Heritage Trail, Edited by Shivley Bray, South Molton & District
Archive Local History Society, 2000, Hinstrated. 40 pages. Fold out map + 25 insct
maps. No charge for booklet but, if it is wished to give a donation towards future
research of the town's history, this should be sent to The Treasurer, South Malton &
Distriet Archive, 1 East Street, South Molton, EX36 3BU. ISBN (-9514236-5-4. This
hooklet containsg a short and informative introduction describing the town and its his-
tory. A diagrammatic plan of South Mollon is printed on the ingide of the cover of the
bookiet on which the route of the trail is identified by numbers corresponding to her-
itage trail plagues fixed to physical features, The route starts ol Hnishes at the
Square in South Molton. Points of historie interest near each of the numbered plagues
are described in the book with inset maps showing Lthe divection from one plague to the
next. ltastrations, particularly the black and white sketches vf interesting buildings,
are of a high quality. This is a well prodizced booklel which should enable a waller to
spend a pleasant and intevesting two hours,

Proteeting Devon’s Historie Environment. Devon County Council 2000,
[Hustrated. 10 pages. Obtainable from County Environmenl Director, County Hall,
Tapsham Road, Exeter EX2 4QW, ISBN 1-85522-738-X. This document sets out the
strategy adopted by Devon County Council to protect the historie environment of the
county sinee April 1998 when Plymouth and Torbay Councils became responsible for
all aspects of the historic environment in their areas, The particular character of Devon
is described and its value ag an assct to the county. This character is subject to increas-
ing modern development pressures, it is stated, and caveful management of these pres-
sures 18 necessary to avoid irrepurable damage to the histeric environment. The com-
mitment of the Coundil lu the principles of sustainability, which is defined, is stated
together with four objectives Lo achieve the management of the environment in a sus-
tainakle manner. The Council proposes to implement a number of actions, which are
described, in order o achieve these ohjectives. The document concludes with a state-
ment that a report will be submitled annually ta the Caunty Council which will enable
the Council’s performance in delivering these actions over the preceding year to be
monitored a11(1j1.1(lg‘_ct11£‘|1t..~; madv for delivery over suceeeding years.

St Andrew’s Whitchurch. Guide to the Chureh. This is & new and altractively pro-
duced guide of 23 pages. [t 1% very readable with briel but clear deseriptions of parish
history and church leatures. Research has been by DHS member Jean Wans, artwork
for illustrations by Jacqui Humphries and Ben Sanham, and editing and layout by
Jane Sanham. Price £1.00.
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CONTRIBUTED INFORMATION

Proposed Milestone Society

A notice has been received from Mr Terry Keegan of The Oxleys, Tenbury Raad, Claws
Top, Kidderminster, Wores, DY14 9HE {Tel 01299 8323581 whn s interested in forming
a Milestone Society, devoted to the study of their history, present survival and future
preservation. Most of such wayside markers have been by our roadsides for 150-2()
years, placed as a result of the Turmpike Acts. Please contacl Mr Keegan il you ore
intevested.

DHS member Mr Anthony Greenstreet has contributed the following iwo items:
Church Monuments

Society members may like to know of an article ‘Constructing the Dead: Late Sixteenth
and Farly Seventeenth Century Effigy Sculpture in Devon’ by Christine French in the
1999 Journal of the Church Monuments Society,

Towards the end of the sixteenth century, English monumental sculpture underwent
a rapid diversification resulting from, and responding to, eurrent religious, political and
economic upheavals. Devon's countryside was largely governed by landowning gentry
and towns by local merchant oligarchies. Their members held it important to display
their gentry status - not least hy suitable commemorative monuments in their church-
es. Devon has a broad range of such monuments reflecting its high number of gentry
and bureaucrats: and the 16204 and 308 were boom decades for memeorial construction
thore.

Some of those decades’ larger offigy memorials still displayed delibevately archaic
medieval postures; but many were innovative in representing the deceased. Sixteen
phatopraphs iltustrate how, while reflecting general current carving trends, the memo-
rials vevealed the chavacters in which those commemorated wished to be remembered -
from the picty of the Copplestone tamily (1617) at Tamerton Foliot to the armoured
authority of trained band eaptain Northeote (d.1632) at Newton St Cyres. A few memo-
rials probably came fram metropolitan workshops; but most of Devon’s finest monu-
ments were by laeal carvers in nearby materials.

Copies of the Journal may be abtained from Dr John Lord, 13 Wraghy Road, Lineoln
LN25 3H.

The Salcombe Bay treasure

Since April the British Museurn has prominently displayed in the H53BC Money
Gallery ene of its most signifieant acquisitions of recent years - the Salcombe Bay
Treasure.

The 'Salcombe Cannon Site’, twelve miles off the coast, had been known since aboub
1980, But it was not until 1994 that the South-West Maritime Archasological Group- a
team of amateur maritime archaeologists and semi-professional divers - discovered and
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began, wilth exemplavy care and Government permission, to recover a treasure of
unigue imporiance.

It comprises over 400 gold coins struck in Moroceo in the sixteenth and seventeenth
centuries, the latest being from a ruler (1631-8) named al-Wahid. There ig alse 2 guan-
tity of fragmentary gold jewellery and ingots, suggesting that this may have been a bul-
lien hoard exported for melting down. Clues to the possible origin of the ship ave dis-
played with the treasure. They include sherds of high-guality seventeenth century
Delft and German ware dating up Lo aboul 1640, and some Somerset pottery; one cop-
per coin struck in Friesland in 1627 and ancther contemporary from Spain; a fine
Morocean fish-shaped lead sounding-weight: and a, probably Dutch, merchant’s brass
geal.

The treasure is being assessed by Or Venelia Porter of the British Museum. In her
paper ‘Coins of the Sa'dian Sharifs of Morocco off the Coast of Devon: Preliminary
Ruport’ given to the 1997 Berlin Nunismatic Congress, Dr Porter suggests (subject (o
the recovery of [urlher items lrom Lhe site) at least three possible identities for the ship
- namely, that it was Boglish or (perhaps mare likely) Dutch and was sailing from
Moroces to England; or it may have heen ane of the Barbary pirates active in English
walers in the first half of the seventeenth century (For aceounts of the activities of
these pirates, see e T Gray Turkish Piraey and Early Stuart Devon, Transactions of
the Devon Association 121, 1989; and Dr S. Bhanji Barbary Pirates off the Devon Coast,
Crchard Publications. 18961,

NEWS FROM LOCAL SOCIETIES

Okehampton Loeal History Society has fifty-three members. They meet every
month to hear a talk - generally illustrated with slides. In the past year these have
included Dr. Todd Gray uvn the Revd. John Swete's Travels in Georgian Devon, John
Allan on Exeter's Underground Passages, Tony Evans on Henry Williamson, and
Caroline Worthington ont Devon Painters. In January, instead of a talk, the OLHS holds
an annual dinney, and in the summer usually makes two expeditions to places of local
interest. This year they are visiting Buckfast Abbey, and the Revd. Sabine Baring-
CGould’s old Church and Rectory at Lewtrenchard.

{The Society’s current chairman is IMHS member Dr Jean Shields. For further infor-
malion contact the Hon Sec, Mrs Margaret Bird of 2 Cleave Mill, Sticklepath,
Okehampton, EX20 2NH - Tel. (1837 840543 - Ed;

Dawlish Local History Group. The group was [ormed in September 1993 and since
then has grown to a membership of over 100. Dr RW. Thompson, the Group’s chair-
man, of Maunt Hill House, West Cliff, Dawlish EX7 9EF (tel 01626 866190) - from
whaom further information may be obtained - writes:
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